LETTER OPI NI ON
93-L-219

June 29, 1993

M . Fabian E. Noack

Foster County State's Attorney
P. O. Box 15

Carrington, ND 58421

Dear M. Noack:

Thank you for your June 16, 1993, letter regarding
school board el ecti ons.

N.D.C.C. ? 15-47-06 sets forth the election procedures
for school districts. Your first question relates to
the manner of resolving a tie vote wunder this
provi si on. The last sentence of N.D.C.C. ? 15-47-06
provi des that the recount provisions found in N D.C C
? 16.1-16-01 apply to school district elections.
Under N.D.C.C. ? 16.1-16-01(1), a recount nust be
conducted when a person has failed to be elected by
one-half of one percent or less of the highest votes

cast. The recount procedures established wunder
N.D.C.C. ? 16.1-16-01 provide for the participation of
various persons in the recount process. N. D. C. C.

? 16.1-16-01(6). Pursuant to N.D.C.C. ?? 16.1-16-01(4)
and 15-47-06, the school district business manager

must <call for a recount wthin four days of the
canvassing of the vote. The failure to neet the four-
day requirenent, however, is not fatal. The North

Dakota Suprene Court has said:

Al'l provisions of the election |aw are mandatory, if
enforcenment is sought before election in a direct
proceeding for that purpose; but after election all
should be held directory only, in support of the
result, unl ess  of a character to effect an
obstruction to the free and intelligent casting of
the vote or to the ascertainment of the result, or
unl ess the provisions affect an essential el enent of
the election, or unless it is expressly declared by
the statute that the particular act is essential to



M . Fabi an E. Noack
June 29, 1993
Page 2

the validity of an election, or that its om ssion
shall render it void.

Kiner v. Well, 71 NW2d 743 at 750 (N. D. 1955)
(quoting__Jones v. State, 55 NE 229, 233 (Ind.
1899)). Thus, the school district business manager
could still set the date for the mandatory recount and
give appropriate notice. Should any Dballots be
contested, it is inportant to keep in mnd that
N. D. C. C ? 16.1-15-01 applies to school district
el ecti ons. N.D.C.C. ? 15-28-10. “I'f a ballot is

mar ked so only a part of the voter's intention can be
determ ned, the election judges shall count such part.
If a voter votes for nore than the nunmber of persons
to be elected to any office, his ballot my be
invalidated only insofar as his vote for such office
is concerned, and the balance of his ballot, if
ot herw se proper, may not be invalidated."” N.D. C. C

? 16.1-15-01.

If there exists a tie after the recount, the tie
should be broken in the manner provided in N.D. C C
? 15-47-06. Wth respect to situations where the
parties cannot agree on a manner to break a tie in a
school district election, this office has previously
sai d:

Apparently one of the candidates is unwilling to
agree upon a nmethod of deciding the election. We
have previously indicated that the above cited
statute requires the tie to be broken within three
days. The | aw gives the candi dates the opportunity
to determne the nethod in which this will be done.

However this does not include the holding of
anot her election or the selection of a method which
would not permt the election to be decided within
three days. If the parties are unwilling to agree
upon a nmethod we believe the judges and clerks of
el ection nmust select a nmethod of determning the

el ection, such as drawing |lots, etc. The | aw
requires the election to be determned within three
days. The candidates are entitled to select the
met hod. If, however, they do not do so, we believe
the judges and clerks nust select a method which
will give both candidates equal opportunity to

prevail .
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Letter from Assistant Attorney General Gerald W
VandeWalle to M. Ray Walton, WIlians County State's
Attorney (June 8, 1966). In nmy opinion, this is the
correct approach to take. Al t hough N.D.C.C. ? 15-47-
06 appears to require the tie to be broken wthin
three days after the election, ND.CC ? 15-47-06
nmust be read and interpreted as a whole. In 1989 this
section was anmended to add the |ast sentence which
i ncorporates the recount provi sions  of N. D. C. C.

? 16.1-16-01. 1989 N.D. Sess. Laws ch. 236.
Consequently, the period of tinme for breaking the tie
is wthin three days of the recount. Thi s

interpretation is consistent with the sequence of
events in ND.C C ?? 16.1-15-29 and 16.1-15-30
regarding the Dbreaking of tie votes at —county
elections and at elections for the Legislative
Assenbl y. Thus, if there is still a tie after the
recount and the candidates will not agree on a neans
of breaking the tie, the judges and cl erks nust decide
the nmeans of breaking the tie. A special election to
break the tie may not be held.

Your second question is whether the official ballot
was clear enough to adequately advise the electors
that they were to vote for two candi dates for the one-
year term and two candidates for the three-year term

The official ballot you enclosed |ists the candi dates
for the one-year term including spaces to insert
write-in candi dates, and below that lists the
candi dates running for the three-year term including
spaces to insert wite-in candidates. The directions
at the top of the ballot provide: "[v]ote for four
names only."

State law requires the ballot to contain "[t]he nunber
of persons to be elected to each office.” (N.D.C. C
? 15-28-09(1). It is not initially clear whether the
voters understood the direction "vote for four nanmes
only" to nmean that they should vote for two candi dates
for the one-year term and two candidates for the

three-year term Thus, it is necessary to |look to
factual matters surrounding the election to discern
the voters' under st andi ng. The tally 1list you

encl osed with your request letter indicates that the
candi dates for the one-year term received a total of
213 votes and the candidates for the three-year term
received a total of 214 votes. This provides sone
i ndication that the voters understood that they were
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to vote for two candidates for the one-year term and
two candi dates for the three-year term The cl ear est
i ndication of the voters' understanding necessarily
woul d conme from the ballots thensel ves. Utimtely,
however, whether the official ballot was clear enough
to indicate to the voters that they were to vote for
two candidates for the one-year term and two
candi dates for the three-year term is a question of
fact about which | am unable to provide an opinion.

Si ncerely,

Hei di Hei t kanmp
ATTORNEY GENERAL

t cal pg
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M . Fabi an E. Noack

Foster County State's Attorney
P. O, Box 15
Carrington, ND 58421



